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V2 DESCRIPTION

CORNDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
X EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED XUNALTERED XORIGINAL SITE
__GOOD __RUINS __ALTERED __MOVED DATE
__FAIR : __UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Sited at the end of a short circular drive behind a stand of old boxwoods, the

elegantly detailed Greek Revival facade of Aspen Hall exemplifies the success of a
family,in the plantation'economy of antebellum North Carolina. This success is even

more clearly perceived by an examination of the house.

The tall wood frame, single pile, two-story, weatherboarded gable roofed house
with its deep box cornice on modillions, jexterior end chimneys, careful harmony of
window and door placement and elaborate portico mask a late Georgian single pile,
two-story gable roofed house. This building was attached directly to the center of
the rear elevation of Aspen Hall and its combination with the later addition, as well
as the complexity of interior details in both sections of the house, are evidence of

the power of the Alston family's increasing wealth, changing tastes and the vermacular
adaptation of high style to Chatham County.

The first house faced east and was three bays wide with a central entry. In its

present condition it is not possible to determine its original plan, although it is
certain that it had one, if not two exterior end chimmeys. When it was attached to

the newer house the chimneys were removed and a new one was centrally located on the
west wall opposite the entry door. It may have been at this time also that this wing

was partitioned as it is today. At the north end of each room a partition was located,
adding a smaller room on each floor. An enclosed stair located in the small room on
the first floor gives access to the second floor. At present this wing serves as the
dining room with master bedroom above. The smaller downstairs room is the kitchen and
the upstairs room is storage and a bath.

The major remaining architectural details of this earlier wing are the plain
recessed panel wainscot and flat molded chair rail in the dining room and azsimple
Georgian fireplace surround supporting a triple recessed panel arrangement. Similar
details occur in the upstairs bedroom. The window and door frames appear to have been

replaced.

The new wing of Aspen Hall is made up of a curious combination of features which
suggest a date ca. 1830-40 because there are both Federal and Greek Revival elements

in the building.

The basic feeling of the new wing is height--a characteristic intensified by the
nine-over-nine sashes, triple molded window jambs, thin corner posts, and exterior

end, Flemish bond, single-shoulder chimneys with free standing stacks. The placement

of windows—-two to either side of the entry bay--also diminishes the importance of the
horizontal character of the wall surfaces. This is countered by the somewhat shallow

sloping gable roof and the deep molded box cornice which rests on small prominent

modillions which read like a dentil course.

These Greek Revival characteristics are intensified by the plain entablature of
the flat roofed portico, once supported by plain fluted Doric columns backed by fluted

pilasters on either side of the entry door. The first floor door is framed by side-
lights and pilasters on bases which rise to molded corner blocks with rosettes and a

fairly intricate architrave. Above these elements is a fanlight set in an elaborate
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arch consisting of a plain concave molding, and a bead and reel on either side of a large
egg and dart. At the center of this somewhat flattened arch is an elegant keystone. The

fan has very thin members joined by delicate swags, somewhat Federal in feeling.

The complex formal sources for this wing are further suggested by the interior. The
center hagl is very broad. Doors immediately left and right enter the parlor and the

library respectively and an arched opening-with double doors at the back of the hall
enters th§ earlier wing, now the dining room. But the attention in the hall is focused

on the stairway. On the east wall the first run is enclosed in recessed, almost Georgian
paneling. It rises to a landing which crosses the opening into the dining room and then
rises, with open string to the hall above. The ends of the risers are decorated with a
flattened scroll. The face of the great beam which supports the landing is treated as a
Doric frieze--heavy rosettes on the metopes alternate with triglyphs whose guttae have
become large bell-like or tassel-like forms. The balusters and newels are simple and
turned as is the handrail. The effect is complex and delightful.

This woodwork and that throughout the new wing are associated in familiar tradition
with the work of Martin Hanks , who is responsible for other work in the Pitts-

boro aréa. This should be further studied.

The same mixing of sources occurs in the parlor and library. Both rooms are almost
square.' Centered on the outside wall is the fireplace. The proportions of the rooms
seem tall, with the two windows of the front and those either side of the fireplace (door
in the Library). A recessed panel wainscot is topped by a triple molded chair rail which

provides the base for the window sills and carved and molded jambs. Circular molded
corner blocks decorate the tops of doors and windows in these rooms. The plaster walls

end atﬁa gimple, cove-like cornice. All these details, like the double recessed panel
interipr doors are Greek Revival in feeling.
!

!
The rooms also have identical, elaborate fireplace surrounds which consist of a

tripartite entablature on attached Ionic columns on bases. The entablature combines
reeding, a pulvinated architrave and a curious curving frieze behind a decorated central
panel. The shelf is broad and breaks in and out over the columns and panel. This fire-
place type is much more Federal in its origins, or the fireplaces could be very much

later.

The library retains a very rich, dark simulated woodgraining on the wainscot,
fireplace surround and other wood details.

|
The upstairs rooms have simplified but similar moldings and mantels.

Td@{tions to the original fabric consist of careful compartmentalizing to gain bath-

rooms
scale

A new wing to the east for guest space and storage is sympathetic and low in

The most notable outbuildings are stables to the west and what are believed to be
%
remnants of slave quarters to the north of the site. Immediately to the west of the house
is an early twentieth century "log'" house which was Judge Walter Siler's law library and

office. It is clearly meant to be 'early twentieth century rustic'" rather than suggesting
|
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it is contemporary with Aspen Hall.

Aspen Hall is an elegant and interesting house. The complex combination of
buildings, their forms and details are evidence of the increasing wealth and/or
prominence as well as taste of the Alstomns. The echoes of Georgian in the earlier house
and the combination of Federal and Greek Revival elements in the new wing reflect not

only the taste of ghe Alstons but changing taste and knowledge in North Carolina.
f

FOOTNOTES

1 ,

The present owner says that a chimney base, comparable to the one that can be
seen on the north end of the earlier section, exists under the newer addition to the
Hall,

2The overmantel on this fireplace looks like a simple three panel arrangement that
has been cut down to fit; i.e., the center panel is a whole rectangle, the panel on

either side of that center panel lacks its far stile and the proportions are "off."
i

3According to the owner, original columns, or those believed to be original to the

portico, have been found on the site. It is the intention of the owner to replace the
present square posts with columns like those found on the site. Until they are put

in situ or carefully measured and compared with the proportions of the portico, it will
be difficult to 'know if they are original.

t

|
]

|

st
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1.
-

Aspen Hall was built in rural Chatham County by '"Chatham Jack" Alston in the
late 1790s. Alston, a Halifax County native, was one of antebellum Chatham County's
most important planters. In the relatively modest farming context of Chatham
County he established a plantation that rivaled those of his eastern cousins in
size and scope. He served as a member of the General Assembly and was an important
social and religious leader in the area. Aspen Hall remained in the hands of his
descendants until recently. These descendants included a number of important
planters and political figures who maintained the importance of the Alston family
name in Chatham County well into the twentieth century.

Aspen Hall's physical development visibly manifests the changing prosperity,
tastes and importance of the Alston family in the agricultural economy of Chatham
County. The careful combination of the earlier Georgian house with the elegant,
but curious detailing of the Greek Revival addition demonstrates both the aspira-
tions and limitations of building in antebellum North Caroclina.

3

Criteria Assessment:

A. Associated with the antebellum development of the plantation economy
in the eastern portion of Piedmont North Carolina.

B. Associated with the lives of the Alstoms, a prominent Chatham County
and North Carolina family whose presence made a significant contribution
to the political, economic, and social development of the area.

C. Aspen Hall embodies distinctive characteristics of regional Georgian,
Federal and Greek Revival domestic building whose combination have
produced an unusually distinctive antebellum house in a county with

few such comparable examples.

D. Is likely to yield information about agricultural practices and
plantation life in Piedmont North Carolina during the nineteenth

century.
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Aspen Hall, located in rural Chatham County between Pittsboro and Siler City, is
one of several Chatham County houses associated with the prominent Alston family. For
many years it was the seat of Joseph John "Chatham Jack' Alston's large plantation,
and it rémained in the hands of his descendants until recently.

Alston was born in Halifax County in 1767, the ninth and last child of Joseph John
Alston, Sr. (1702-1780). The elder Alston was one of the state's largest land owners.
In the early 1770s, about the time Chatham*County was formed from Orange County, he made
dozens of land purchases in Chatham. At his death Alston left his descendants an esti-
mated 100,000 acres scattered over a number of counties.? 'Chatham Jack" inherited land
primarily in Chatham. As late as 1790, however, he lived in Halifax County, where the
1790 census lists him as the owner of 11 slaves. 1In the early 1790s he moved to Chatham
County with his wife Martha Kearney Alston, whom he married in 1791. Until his death in
1841 he was one of the county's most distinguished personages.3

Alston evidently built Aspen Hall shortly after his arrival in the county, perhaps
connecting it to an older house. Alston was one of Chatham County's largest land owners.
In an area dominated by small farms Alston owned a plantation that in size and scope
rivaled the larger of those more commonly located in the eastern part of the state. His
_ plantation was one of a number of substantial Alston plantations throughout the state.

Half-brother Philip Alston lived on the Deep River in the "House in the Horseshoe,' site
of a Revolutionary skirmish between Whigs and Tories,% while brother Henry lived on 4,000
acres in Warren County.5 Many of Alston's brothers, half-brothers, couisins, and nephews
were important men in the state, serving in Coné}ess, the General Assembly, and the
Confederate Army.

It is not certain how much land Alston actually owned. He acquired the nickname
"40-mile Jack' and reportedly owned as much as 40,000 acres at ome time. This may be
an exaggeration as an 1815 tax list credits him with the ownership of slightly more than
2,000 acres, valued at $6,000. However, the 1830 census credits Alston with the ownership
of 163 slaves, which implies much larger land holdings than 2,000 acres. Alston was the
largest slave holder in the county in that year. In 1840 he owned 104 slaves, making him
the second largest slave holder in the county. Alston served two terms, 1802 and 1803,
in the General Assembly and was one of the founders of the Mt. Vernon Methodist Church,
to which he donated four acres in 1832.

Alston and his wife Martha had eleven children in a period from 1792 until 1814.
Gideon Alston, their eighth child and fourth son, inherited the Aspen Hall section of
his father's estate upon the latter's death in 1841. Shortly before '"Chatham Jack's'
death the house was expanded, with some of the work probably dome by Martin Hanks.
Gideon Alston was born in 1806. He married Evelyn Alston of Warren County, daughter of
Philip Guston Alston and Mary Harris Alston. They had four children.’/ The 1850 census
credits Gideon Alston with the ownership of 1,865 acres valued at $8,265. Five hundred
of these acres were improved. Gideon owned a large amount of livestock including 200
swine. His livestock was valued at $1,585. His farm produced 2,250 bushels of corn,
300 bushels of wheat, 200 bushels of oats, 200 pounds of tobacco, 45 bales of cotton,
12 tons of hay, and 300 pounds of butter. Alston owned 67 slaves.8 Although somewhat
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diminished from the size of his father's plantation, Gideon Alston's holdings were still
very impressive for antebellum Chatham County.

Gideon Alston died in 1856 leaving his estate to his wife Evelyn. Junius A. Alston,
the eldest child of Gideon and Evelyn Alston, inherited the tract from his mother,
although with a considerably reduced amount of land.? Chatham County, like the rest of
the state, suffered an economic decllneglmmedlately after the Civil War, as evidenced by
the fact that in 1870 Junius Alston's 800 acres were valued at only $1,500. 10 By 1880,
however, he had increased his holdings to 1,500 acres, which were valued at $10,500. 11
Alston served one term, 1885, in the North Carollna General Assembly, served on the Chatham
County Board of Education in 1888 and 1889, and was one of the founders of the Pittsboro
Rail Road Company, which was incorporated in 1885. 12

Junius Alston had eight children, three by his first wife Fannie Hamlin, and five
by his second wife Ida Lloyd. Lacy Alston, the seventh of Junius Alston's children,
obtained Aspen Hall upon his father's .death in 1900.13 He married Carrie Speight Edwards,
and continued to farm the land until his death in 1958.1% 1In the 1920s Walter Siler
married Lydia Alston, sister of Lacy Alston. They lived at Aspen Hall for some years,
and Siler, later to become one of North Carolina's most prominent judges, built a log
cabin which served as his library and Istudy. The building ''contained one of the finest
" private libraries in the state.'" In the 1940s the books were moved out of the building
into Judge Siler's home in Siler City, but the cabin still stands. !

Aspen Hall has changed hands a number of tifmes in recent years. The present owners

are Floyd and Mary Ellis, who have owned the property since 1977.
!

The structure, of course, is closely related to the surrounding environment. Archaeo-
logical remains, such as trash pitsg wells, and structural remains, which may be present,
can provide information valuable to {the understanding and interpretation of the structure.
Information concerning use patterns, social standing and mobility, as well as structural
details are often only evident in the archaeological record. Therefore, archaeological
remains may well be an important component of the significance of the structure. At this
time no investigation has been done to discover these remains, but it is probable that
they exist, and this should be considered in any development of the property. :
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FOOTNOTES

lAlston also built the DeGraffenried House in the county. It is on the National
Register ‘of Historic Places and was lived in for many years by Alston's son Joseph i
John Alston, III.

2Joseph A, Groves, The Alstons and Allstons of North and South Carolina (Atlanta: é
Franklin Printing and Publishing Company, 1¥01), 75-78, hereinafter cited as Groves, £
The Alstons. Joseph John Alston, Sr. was a Justice of the Peace in 1732, served on a
committe on Grievances in 1754, and served in the General Assembly from 1744 until 1746.

3First Census of the United States, 1790, Chatham County, North Caroclina; Groves,
The Alstons, 75, 126.

4Wade Hampton Hadley, Doris Goerch Horton, and Nell Craig Strowd, Chatham County
1771-1971 (Durham: Moore Publishing Company, Second Edition, 1976), 411, hereinafter
cited as Hampton, Horton, and Strowd, Chatham County. Groves, The Alston, 99. On July
29, 1781 Alston and a group of 25 Whigs were captured by a Tory band led by David Fannlng
Fanning spared the house and paroled the prisoners. |

5GroVes, The Alstons, 117.

6William Perry Johnson (ed.), 1815 Tax List of Chatham County (N.p., n.p., 1975),
27, 51; Fifth Census of the United States, 1830, Chatham County, North Carolina; Sixth
Census of the United States, 1840, Chatham County, North Carolina; The Chatham Record,
September 20, 1962; Raleigh Register, May 14, 1841; Hadley, Horton, and Strowd, Chatham
County, 176, 249, 410, 416, 436. |

!
i
(
I
i
i

7Groves, The Alstons, 126, 131; Chatham County Will Book C, p. 120.

8Seventh Census of the United States, 1850, Chatham County, North Carolina, Agri-
cultural Schedule, Population Schedule, Slave Schedule.

9Chatham County Will Book C, p. 408; Groves, The Alstons, 131.
10

Ninth Census of the United States, 1870, Chatham County, North Carolina, Agri-
cultural Schedule.

llTenth Census of the United States, 1880, Chatham County, North Carolina, Agri-,
cultural Schedule.

leadley, Horton, and Strowd, Chatham County, 163, 438, 443, rﬂ

13Groves, The Alston, 131; Chatham County Will Book F, p. 156.

14The Chatham Record, September 20, 1962.

15The Chatham News, November 27, 1975. '
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